

INTERCOVID STUDY



The International Fetal and Newborn Growth Consortium for the 21st Century (INTERGROWTH-21st)

INTERCOVID

A prospective cohort study of the effects of COVID-19 in pregnancy and the neonatal period

Study Protocol

Version 4.0 23 April 2020

Contents

Summary	3
Introduction	4
Background	5
Study aim	6
Study design	6
Study outcomes	7
Sample size considerations	7
INTERGROWTH-21 st Network	8
Participating medical institutions	8
Ethical considerations	9
Publication policy	9
Data management	10
Data sharing	10
Study committees	10
Acknowledgements	10
References	11
Appendix I: Literature to date	12
Appendix II: Concept note	17

Summary

INTERCOVID is a large, multi-national, prospective cohort study with the aim of assessing the effect of COVID-19 in pregnancy on maternal, fetal and neonatal outcomes worldwide. 'Exposed' cases are defined as pregnant women with: a) laboratory confirmed COVID-19; b) radiological pulmonary findings suggestive of COVID-19; c) maternal symptoms compatible with COVID-19, or d) absence of symptoms, whilst in close interaction with a person(s) with confirmed COVID-19. Each 'Exposed' case is compared with two 'non-exposed' pregnant women, considered as representative of the pregnant population at each study site. Both 'exposed' and 'non-exposed' pregnant women will be recruited at any stage of pregnancy; women and their babies will be followed up until hospital discharge post-delivery. We will also conduct a nested case/non-case analysis to identify either risk factors or effect modifiers of the outcomes. Primary outcomes will be two unweighted indices: 'maternal morbidity index' and 'severe neonatal morbidity index;' individual component of the indices will be secondary outcomes.

Assuming that COVID-19 in pregnancy increases the risk of a common outcome, such as preterm birth, from 10% to 15%, it is possible to have 80% power with 500 'exposed' women and 1000 'non-exposed' women (1:2 ratio). Our Data Monitoring Group will evaluate these estimations in interim analyses. We expect that recruitment will take place during 6 months at most. We are using the same data collection forms and data management system as in all INTERGROWTH-21st Project studies (MedSciNet, London, UK). All data will be entered locally into the online system with its built-in extensive quality control facility. Ethical approval has already been obtained from the Oxford Tropical Research Ethics Committee (OxTREC), ref no 526-20.

The study commenced field preparations on 20 April 2020 and recruitment can start immediately. Already, 42 medical institutions globally have agreed to participate. The first Zoom investigators' meeting will take place on 25 April 2020.

The translational value of the INTERCOVID Study is that we will be collecting invaluable baseline outcome data, as recommended by the Pregnancy Research Ethics for Vaccines, Epidemics and New Technologies (PREVENT) Report,¹ to inform risk-benefit analyses for future vaccine trials in pregnant women by providing "potential risk relationships between vaccination and adverse events". Failure to obtain that information runs the risk of pregnant women being denied priority access to a new vaccine or therapy, as has occurred so many times in the past.

Introduction

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the world is confronting arguably one of the greatest socio-economic challenges we have faced in the last 100 years. Over 170,000 COVID-19 related deaths have already been reported and whole countries remain in lockdown with catastrophic financial consequences for society at large.

Perhaps the most dramatic feature of the pandemic is the speed with which COVID-19 has spread through the developed economies of the western hemisphere. The health sector, in its various forms, has reacted by providing emergency care on an unprecedented scale, while the scientific community has focused on evaluating the limited curative options available and the production of a vaccine to prevent future waves of the pandemic.

The most vulnerable people in the population have been identified based on the best evidence currently available and public health preventive measures have been implemented with varying degrees of compliance. However, there is still an urgent need for large-scale research focused on subpopulations that were initially considered at low risk, e.g. pregnant women, newborns and infants. It is surprising that they are considered low-risk because pregnancy is usually a principal target of infectious diseases, as was proven to be the case in the recent Zika virus epidemic. These vulnerable subpopulations have been the subject of a large number of small case reports that cannot possibly evaluate the real risk to mothers, fetuses and infants (see the Background section below).

The history of medicine contains many examples, during such acute episodes, of debates around the need to produce hard scientific evidence versus the need to implement current knowledge. This pandemic is no exception. We should remember, however, that even in the most extraordinary circumstances, solid research was required and conducted before actions or treatments were promoted at large scale. This is best illustrated by the case of the large, multicentre cluster randomised field trial, conducted in the USA to test the effectiveness of the first poliomyelitis vaccine, involving 650,000 children who received the vaccine or a placebo, and another 1.18 million who served as controls.

Our responsibility in the present situation, as researchers in the field of maternal and perinatal health, is to ensure we fully understand the effects of COVID-19 in pregnancy so that we are ready for the next phase, i.e. the testing of a vaccine in the context of a randomised clinical trial. Hence, we present a study protocol that aims to fill the scientific gap in a rigorous yet speedy manner.

Background

The published literature is confusing on the effects of infection during pregnancy with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) causing coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Although some review articles have been published, few add much to one of the first.² A member of the INTERCOVID Scientific Advisory Board, Professor Jim Thornton (University of Nottingham, UK), has curated the most complete and up-to-date collection of primary sources on his blog <u>www.ripe-tomato.org</u>. As of 20 April 2020, 51 papers had reported primary data on COVID-19 in pregnancy (Appendix I). However, there are many problems with these sources of information.

Firstly, there has been double counting of cases. This was a particular problem with early reports from China, and rarely made clear by the authors. Using the Global Research Identifier Database <u>www.GRID.ac</u>, it appears only eight out of 28 published reports from China are non-overlapping. This problem also affects Western reports: at least three from New York have included overlapping cases, which the authors acknowledged.

Secondly, most reports are of very small numbers with the larger series (e.g. from Lombardy, Italy) reporting little detail. Eighteen of the 51 papers are single case reports, which are likely to be biased towards severe or unusual disease.

Thirdly, the evidence for *in utero* SARS-CoV-2 transmission to the fetus is based solely on two *JAMA* case reports from China that measured IgM levels in blood drawn from three neonates.^{3,4} However, as the *JAMA* editorialists pointed out: 'No infant specimen had a positive RT-PCR test result, so there is not virologic evidence for congenital infection in these cases to support the serologic suggestion of *in utero* transmission'.⁵

Evidence for neonatal infection during the birth process itself is based on a small number of case reports of babies swabbed at different time intervals. The only neonate with significant clinical illness was also born preterm. Of the three documented neonatal deaths, two were to seriously ill mothers: one of whom later died and the other required ECMO. The third was a case report of a stillbirth from China with no other clinical details provided. Finally, to date, only one study has reported a control group.⁶

The limitations of overlap, reporting bias, uncertainty regarding fetal transmission and lack of control groups will also affect the many ongoing national and international registries, which do not prohibit data being included in more than one registry. Hence the need for a multi-national, prospective cohort study of 'exposed' cases and 'non-exposed' pregnant women, representative of the general population.

Study aim

The aim is to provide women, families, health care providers and policymakers with highquality evidence regarding the effects of COVID-19 on maternal, fetal and neonatal outcomes by carrying out a large, **multi-national**, **prospective cohort study over 6 months, starting on 20 April 2020**. Monthly data monitoring and interim analyses will provide evidence of the initial trends and guide the study's strategy. The information is needed quickly and at scale to optimise maternal and newborn care, reduce maternal anxiety, inform decision-making about the allocation of resources, and guide the process toward social adaptation. Although it is generally believed that pregnant women with COVID-19 are at similar risk to the general population,⁷ there are limited data available, principally from small case series without controls, which cannot answer fundamental questions relating to the effects of the disease on maternal and neonatal outcomes.

Study design

This is a large, multi-national, prospective cohort study. 'Exposed' cases are defined as pregnant women with either: a) laboratory confirmed COVID-19; b) radiological pulmonary findings suggestive of COVID-19; c) maternal symptoms compatible with COVID-19 according to a predefined list, or d) absence of symptoms, whilst in close interaction with a person(s) with confirmed COVID-19 (a proxy for asymptomatic cases, one of the main problems in controlling the pandemic).

This strategy will miss asymptomatic women who were not tested, which is a clear limitation. However, in sites without systematic testing of all pregnant women (the large majority of countries), it is not possible to detect these women at the moment. They will be potentially eligible as 'non-exposed' because they remain in the general population.

'Exposed' cases will be compared with two 'non-exposed' pregnant women per case considered as representative of the pregnant population at each study site. The selection of the 'non-exposed' women is a central point of the study to reduce selection bias. Ideally, we should select all pregnant women in the study sites, but that is clearly impractical. Instead, we decided that the two 'non-exposed women' should be selected immediately after the 'exposure' was identified at the same level of care (e.g. antenatal clinic, hospital in-patient, or labour and delivery) following the routine practice of the unit and within the possibilities of the care demands. The key issue here is the need to avoid systematic bias, i.e. through selecting women because they are too healthy or have other characteristics. Both 'exposed' and 'non-exposed' women will be recruited at any stage of pregnancy. They and their newborns will be followed up until hospital discharge to quantify the risks associated with SARS-CoV-2 exposure.

To complement the evaluation of 'exposed' and 'non-exposed groups' we will also conduct a nested case/non-case analysis (like a retrospective case-control study) to identify socio-economic and clinical features that are either risk factors or effect modifiers of the effect of COVID-19 on outcomes (see Barros et al.⁸ for this analytical strategy). This analysis will be mostly based on the data collected in the *Pregnancy and Delivery Form.*

Study outcomes

We will use, as primary outcomes, maternal pregnancy-related morbidities (e.g. preeclampsia and preterm birth) as separate items and construct, as we have done previously, an unweighted 'maternal morbidity index'. We will also use two unweighted composite neonatal outcomes: i) the 'severe neonatal morbidity index', including at least one severe neonatal complication such as intraventricular haemorrhage or necrotising enterocolitis, and ii) the 'neonatal morbidity and mortality index', including at least neonatal death up until hospital discharge, stay in Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) for ≥7 days, or severe neonatal complication.⁹⁻¹¹ Each individual component of the indices will be evaluated as secondary outcomes.

Sample size considerations

Power calculations are difficult in a large field study, when the case definition is uncertain (facilitating misclassifications) and risk factors and outcomes with unknown degrees of association and prevalence are being explored. So, having balanced power calculations and logistical demands, variations in the peak of the pandemic across sites, and the need to obtain results quickly whilst maintaining data quality, we have opted for a 2:1 'non-exposed' to 'exposed' ratio to improve power. We have estimated that COVID-19 in pregnancy could increase the risk of a common outcome, such as preterm birth, from 10% to 15%. With this rate of effect, it is possible to have 80% power with 500 'exposed' women and 1000 'non-exposed' women.

For an assumed relative risk of 1.5, at 80% power, the required sample size is 700 women per group with a 1:1 ratio. At 90% power, the required sample size is 900 per group

with the same 1:1 ratio. As expected, if we assume a relative risk of 2, at 80% power, the required sample size is 200 per group and at 90% power, the required sample size is 270 per group. It is evident, however, that there are considerable uncertainties with these calculations. We have opted to aim for a target of 500 'exposed' and 1000 'non-exposed' women because we do not envisage problems obtaining this estimated case load in a period of up to 6 months' data collection. Thus, we have taken the pragmatic approach to initiate the INTERCOVID Study within the large network of positive responses we have received and start the study the week of 20 April 2020, as planned. Our Data Monitoring Group (see below) will evaluate these estimations in interim analyses.

INTERGROWTH-21st Network

This large study benefits from the University of Oxford having hosted the well-established network of standardised researchers across the world, who have participated in the various studies of the INTERGROWTH-21st Project (<u>intergrowth21.tghn.org</u>) over the last 12 years. The network has produced 125 scientific papers with over 3000 citations since 2015, which have influenced national and international guidelines in the field of maternal, newborn and infant health, demonstrating its translational value. As a result, we have in place trained research staff and standardised data collection forms focused on maternal and neonatal outcomes, as well as environmental exposures at cluster level. All the documentation links to an online data collection system and quality control measures that provide information almost in real-time. For the present study, we have simply added a form relating to COVID-19, which explains why **we can start the study immediately**.

Participating medical institutions

In the week commencing 13 April 2020, a first round of invitations was sent to our global network, which has already resulted in 42 medical institutions agreeing to participate. Most have collected information in the last month about 'exposed' women that can be added to the database with the corresponding temporal 'non-exposed' women. The study duration at each site (3-6 months) will depend on the progress of the pandemic in areas that have not yet seen many cases (e.g. South America and Africa).

On 20 April 2020, a second wave of invitations was sent to 200 neonatologists and obstetricians (mostly from LMICs) that have taken the INTERGROWTH-21st e-learning

course on newborn postnatal follow-up. They have been standardised for data collection and are ideally trained to participate in a study like this. In addition, based on what happens in the first 2 weeks of the study, we are ready to activate a list of 1500 health care professionals who took the INTERGROWTH-21st e-learning courses in the last 3 years and have been trained following the same procedures and standardized practices.

Finally, we have made contact with the West African Health Organization (WAHO), which has access to a network of medical institutions in 12 countries in sub-Saharan Africa, in addition to our existing collaborators in Ghana, Kenya and Nigeria, so as to target as broad an area of the continent as possible.

A major feature of this phased strategy is that we are involving countries that are at different stages of the disease trajectory, including those with very few reported cases. Thus, by the end of the study, we expect to have the most updated understanding at global level of the maternal, fetal and neonatal morbidity and mortality associated with COVID-19. We will also have assembled an invaluable platform for future clinical trials aimed at testing therapies or vaccines in pregnant women.

Ethical considerations

Ethical approval has already been obtained from the Oxford Tropical Research Ethics Committee (OxTREC), ref no 526-20. Informed consent will be obtained according to local practices. The approved consent form includes the statement that anonymised clinical information, test results and images can be 'shared with academic collaborators around the world including the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and commercial companies'. Those medical institutions that require local approval as well are doing so, but they do not envisage much delay in starting the study. It is important to stress that the study will not interfere with the clinical management of affected women that will be carried out based on current guidelines.¹²

Publication policy

We will adopt the publication policy that has served the INTERGROWTH-21st Project successfully for the last 12 years: namely that the Principal Investigators and leading contributors at each site will be co-authors on all publications resulting from the INTERCOVID Study.

Data management

We will use the same data management system that was specifically developed for the INTERGROWTH-21st Project studies (MedSciNet, London, UK). It is coordinated centrally by the same team that has accumulated extensive experience with our previous studies. All data will be entered locally into the on-line system with its built-in extensive quality control facility. Queries can be dispatched immediately to the study sites, which provides continuously clean data sets for intermediate analysis.

Data sharing

The intention is to pursue an open data policy in keeping with the principles set out in the Wellcome Trust statement on sharing data during the COVID-19 pandemic (31 January 2020),¹³ to which the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and all major journals are signatories. Our commitment is to ensure that all stakeholders have rapid access to emerging findings that could aid the global response.

Study Committees

Scientific Advisory Board

We have established a Scientific Advisory Board, with global representation, consisting of experts in maternal, newborn health, epidemiology, virology and public health.

Data Monitoring Group

An independent Data Monitoring Group, (School of Public Health at Berkeley), will evaluate the study's progress every 2 weeks to guide the recruitment process and conduct interim analyses, without statistical testing, informing an external evaluation committee.

Acknowledgements

This protocol was prepared by José Villar, Stephen Kennedy, Aris Papageorghiou and Adele Winsey, with an important contribution from Jim Thornton. The study is funded by for which we are very grateful.

References

- Krubiner CB, Faden RR, Karron RA, et al. Pregnant women & vaccines against emerging epidemic threats: Ethics guidance for preparedness, research, and response. *Vaccine* 2019. doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.01.011.
- Schwartz DA. An Analysis of 38 Pregnant Women with COVID-19, Their Newborn Infants, and Maternal-Fetal Transmission of SARS-CoV-2: Maternal Coronavirus Infections and Pregnancy Outcomes. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 2020. doi: 10.5858/arpa.2020-0901-SA.
- 3. Dong L, Tian J, He S, et al. Possible Vertical Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 From an Infected Mother to Her Newborn. *JAMA* 2020. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.4621.
- 4. Zeng H, Xu C, Fan J, et al. Antibodies in Infants Born to Mothers With COVID-19 Pneumonia. *JAMA* 2020. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.4861.
- 5. Kimberlin DW, Stagno S. Can SARS-CoV-2 Infection Be Acquired In Utero?: More Definitive Evidence Is Needed. *JAMA* 2020. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.4868.
- Li N, Han L, Peng M, et al. Maternal and neonatal outcomes of pregnant women with COVID-19 pneumonia: a case-control study. *Clin Infect Dis* 2020. doi.org/10.1101/ 2020.03.10.20033605.
- 7. Chen L, Li Q, Zheng D, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Pregnant Women with Covid-19 in Wuhan, China. *N Engl J Med* 2020. doi:10.1056/NEJMc2009226.
- 8. Barros FC, Papageorghiou AT, Victora CG, et al. The distribution of clinical phenotypes of preterm birth syndrome: implications for prevention. *JAMA Pediatr* 2015; 169: 220-9.
- Wapner RJ, Sorokin Y, Thom EA, et al. Single versus weekly courses of antenatal corticosteroids: evaluation of safety and efficacy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2006; 195: 633-42.
- Villar J, Valladares E, Wojdyla D, et al. Caesarean delivery rates and pregnancy outcomes: the 2005 WHO global survey on maternal and perinatal health in Latin America. *Lancet* 2006; 367: 1819-29.
- 11. Villar J, Abalos E, Carroli G, et al. Heterogeneity of perinatal outcomes in the preterm delivery syndrome. *Obstet Gynecol* 2004; 104: 78-87.
- 12. https://www.gfmer.ch/Guidelines/Maternal_neonatal_infections/Coronavirus.htm.
- 13. https://wellcome.ac.uk/coronavirus-covid-19/open-data.

APPENDIX I (Ripe-tomato.org)

- Huijun Chen, Juanjuan Guo, Chen Wang, Fan Luo, Xuechen Yu, Wei Zhang, Jiafu Li, Dongchi Zhao, Dan Xu, Qing Gong, Jing Liao, Huixia Yang, Wei Hou, Yuanzhen Zhang. Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records. Lancet. Volume 395, Issue 10226, 7–13 March 2020, Pages 809-815.
- Yan Chen, Hua Peng, Lin Wang, Yin Zhao, Lingkong Zeng, Hui Gao and Yalan Liu. Infants Born to Mothers With a New Coronavirus (COVID-19) Front. Pediatr., 16 March 2020 | https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2020.00104
- Liu, W.; Wang, Q.; Zhang, Q.; Chen, L.; Chen, J.; Zhang, B.; Lu, Y.; Wang, S.; Xia, L.; Huang, L.; Wang, K.; Liang, L.; Zhang, Y.; Turtle, L.; Lissauer, D.; Lan, K.; Feng, L.; Yu, H.; Liu, Y.; Sun, Z. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) During Pregnancy: A Case Series. Preprints 2020, 2020020373
- Chen S, Huang B, Luo DJ, Li X, Yang F, Zhao Y, Nie X, Huang BX. Pregnant women with new coronavirus infection: a clinical characteristics and placental pathological analysis of three cases. Zhonghua Bing Li Xue Za Zhi. 2020 Mar 1;49(0):E005. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn112151-20200225-00138.
- Yangli Liu, Haihong Chen, Kejing Tang, Yubiao Guo. Clinical manifestations and outcome of SARS-CoV-2 infection during pregnancy J Infect. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.02.028</u>
- Yang Li, Ruihong Zhao, Shufa Zheng, Xu Chen, Jinxi Wang, Xiaoli Sheng, Jianying Zhou, Hongliu Cai, Qiang Fang, Fei Yu, Jian Fan, Kaijin Xu, Yu Chen and Jifang Sheng Lack of Vertical Transmission of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2, China. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2020 Apr [date cited]. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2606.200287 DOI: 10.3201/eid2606.200287
- Huaping Zhu, Lin Wang, Chengzhi Fang, Sicong Peng, Lianhong Zhang, Guiping Chang, Shiwen Xia, Wenhao Zhou. Clinical analysis of 10 neonates born to mothers with 2019-nCoV pneumonia. Translational Pediatrics Vol 9, No 1 (February 2020)
- Dehan Liu, Lin Li, Xin Wu, Dandan Zheng, Jiazheng Wang, Lian Yang and Chuansheng Zheng.
 Pregnancy and Perinatal Outcomes of Women With Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Pneumonia: A
 Preliminary Analysis American Journal of Roentgenology: 1-6. 10.2214/AJR.20.23072
- Zhang Lu, Jiang Yan, Wei Min, et al. Analysis of pregnancy outcomes of pregnant women during the epidemic of new coronavirus pneumonia in Hubei [J / OL]. Chinese Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2020,55 (2020-03-08). http://rs.yiigle.com/yufabiao/1184338.htm. DOI: 10.3760 / cma.j.cn112141-20200218-00111.

- Rong Wen, Yue Sun, Quan-Sheng Xing A patient with SARS-CoV-2 infection during pregnancy in Qingdao, China Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection Available online 10 March 2020 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmii.2020.03.004</u>
- Lingkong Zeng, Shiwen Xia, Wenhao Yuan, Kai Yan, Feifan Xiao, Jianbo Shao, Wenhao Zhou, Neonatal Early-Onset Infection With SARS-CoV-2 in 33 Neonates Born to Mothers With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Pediatr. Published online March 26, 2020. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.0878
- Kang X, Zhang R, He H, Yao Y, Zheng Y, Wen X, Zhu S. Anesthesia management in cesarean section for a patient with coronavirus disease 2019. Zhejiang Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban. 2020 May 25;49(1):0. Chinese. PMID: 32207592
- Cuifang Fan, Di Lei, Congcong Fang, Chunyan Li, Ming Wang, Yuling Liu, Yan Bao, Yanmei Sun, Jinfa Huang, Yuping Guo, Ying Yu, Suqing Wang Perinatal Transmission of COVID-19 Associated SARS-CoV-2: Should We Worry? Clinical Infectious Diseases, ciaa226, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa226</u>
- Shaoshuai Wang, Lili Guo, Ling Chen, Weiyong Liu, Yong Cao, Jingyi Zhang, Ling Feng A Case Report of Neonatal 2019 Coronavirus Disease in China. Clinical Infectious Diseases, ciaa225, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa225</u>
- Lan Dong, Jinhua Tian, Songming He, Chuchao Zhu, Jian Wang, Chen Liu, Jing Yang. Possible Vertical Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 From an Infected Mother to Her Newborn. JAMA. Published online March 26, 2020. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.4621
- Hui Zeng, Chen Xu, Junli Fan, Yueting Tang, Qiaoling Deng, Wei Zhang, Xinghua Long. Antibodies in Infants Born to Mothers With COVID-19 Pneumonia. JAMA. Published online March 26, 2020. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.4861
- Breslin N, Baptiste C, Miller R, Fuchs K, Goffman D, Gyamfi-Bannerman C, D'Alton M. COVID-19 in pregnancy: early lessons. Am J Obstet Gynecol. Available online 27 March 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100111</u>
- 18. Nan Yu, Wei Li, Qingling Kang, Zhi Xiong, Shaoshuai Wang, Xingguang Lin, Yanyan Liu, Juan Xiao, Haiyi Liu, Dongrui Deng, Suhua Chen, Wanjiang Zeng, Ling Feng, Jianli Wu. Clinical features and obstetric and neonatal outcomes of pregnant patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective, single-centre, descriptive study. Lancet Infect Dis 2020 Published Online March 24, 2020 https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30176-6
- 19. Yu Chen, Zhe Li, Yuan-Yuan Zhang, Wei-Hua Zhao, Zhi-Ying Yu. Maternal health care management during the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) J Med Virol. 2020 Mar 26. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25787. [Epub ahead of print] Note no pregnant cases so Cochrane won't have.
- 20. Chen S, Liao E, Shao Y. Clinical analysis of pregnant women with 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia.J Med Virol. 2020 Mar 28. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25789. [Epub ahead of print]

- 21. Zambrano LI, Fuentes-Barahona IC, Bejarano-Torres DA, Bustillo C, Gonzales G, Vallecillo-Chinchilla G, Sanchez-Martínez FE, Valle-Reconco JA, Sierra M, Bonilla-Aldana DK, Cardona-Ospina JA, Rodríguez-Morales AJ. A pregnant woman with COVID-19 in Central America. Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease. Online 25 March 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101639
- Xiaotong Wang, Zhiqiang Zhou, Jianping Zhang, Fengfeng Zhu, Yongyan Tang, Xinghua Shen. A case of 2019 Novel Coronavirus in a pregnant woman with preterm delivery. Clinical Infectious Diseases, ciaa200, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa200</u>
- 23. Gidlof S, Savchenko J, Brune, T, Josefsson H. COVID-19 in pregnancy with comorbidities: More liberal testing strategy is needed. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica
- 24. Iqbal SN Rachael Overcash R, Neggin Mokhtari N, Haleema Saeed H, Gold S, Auguste T, Mirza M-U, Ruiz M-E, Chahine JJ, Waga M, Wortmann G. An Uncomplicated Delivery in a Patient with Covid-19 in the United States New Engl J Med April 1, 2020 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMc2007605
- 25. Dong Hwan Lee, Jihyang Lee, Eunju Kim, Kyeongyoon Woo, Hak Youle Park, Jihyun An. Emergency cesarean section on severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS- CoV-2) confirmed patient. Korean J Anesthesiol. https://doi.org/10.4097/kja.20116 [Epub ahead of print]
- 26. Mojgan Karimi-Zarchia, Hossein Neamatzadeh, Seyed Alireza Dastgheib, Hajar Abbasi, Seyed Reza Mirjalili, Thena Behforouz, Farzad Ferdosian, Reza Bahrami. Vertical Transmission of Coronavirus Disease 19 (COVID-19) from Infected Pregnant Mothers to Neonates: A Review. Fetal & Paed Pathol. https://doi.org/10.1080/15513815.2020.1747120
- 27. Lin Qiu, Xia Liu, Meng Xiao, Jing Xie, Wei Cao, Zhengyin Liu, Abraham Morse, Yuhua Xie, Taisheng Li, Lan Zhu. SARS-CoV-2 is not detectable in the vaginal fluid of women with severe COVID-19 infection. Clinical Infectious Diseases, ciaa375, https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa375 Another one with no pregnant cases so Cochrane won't have.
- Report of the WHO-China Joint Mission on Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) 16-24 February
 2020. Report submitted 28 February 2020
- 29. Zeng Lingkong, Tao Xuwei, Yuan Wenhao, et al. The first neonatal coronavirus pneumonia in China
 [J]. Chinese Journal of Pediatrics, 2020,58 (04): 279-280. DOI: 10.3760 / cma.j.cn112140 -20200212-00081
- 30. Noelle Breslin, Caitlin Baptiste, Cynthia Gyamfi-Bannerman, Russell Miller, Rebecca Martinez, Kyra Bernstein, Laurence Ring, Ruth Landau, Stephanie Purisch, Alexander M. Friedman, Karin Fuchs, Desmond Sutton, Maria Andrikopoulou, Devon Rupley, Jean-Ju Sheen, Janice Aubey, Noelia Zork, Leslie Moroz, Mirella Mourad, Ronald Wapner, Lynn L. Simpson, Mary E. D'Alton, Dena Goffman. AJOG MFM. Still no formal citation

- 31. Alexander Juusela, Munir Nazir Martin Gimovsky. Two Cases of COVID-19 Related Cardiomyopathy in Pregnancy. AJOG MFM Available online 3 April 2020, doi.org/10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100113
- 32. ICNARC COVID-19 report 2020-04-04.pdf <u>https://www.icnarc.org/About/Latest-</u> News/2020/04/04/Report-On-2249-Patients-Critically-III-With-Covid-19
- 33. Li N, Han L, Peng M, Lv Y, Ouyang Y, Liu K, Yue L, Li Q, Sun G, Chen L, Yang L. Maternal and neonatal outcomes of pregnant women with COVID-19 pneumonia: a case-control study. Clin Infect Dis. 2020 Mar 30. pii: ciaa352. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa352. [Epub ahead of print]
- Xiali Xiong, Hong Wei, Zhihong Zhang, Jing Chang, Xiaopeng Ma, Xiang Gao, Qiang Chen, Qiumei Pang. Vaginal Delivery Report of a Healthy Neonate Born to a Convalescent Mother with COVID-19 J Med Virol. 2020 Apr 10. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25857.
- Zhi-Jiang Zhang, Xue-Jie Yu, Tao Fu, Yu Liu, Yan Jiang, Bing Xiang Yang, Yongyi Bi. Novel Coronavirus Infection in Newborn Babies Under 28 Days in China. European Respiratory Journal 2020; DOI: 10.1183/13993003.00697-2020
- 36. Rong Chen, Yuan Zhang, Lei Huang, Bi-heng Cheng, Zhong-yuan Xia, Qing-tao Meng, Safety and efficacy of different anesthetic regimens for parturients with COVID-19 undergoing Cesarean delivery: a case series of 17 patients. Can J Anesth <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12630-020-01630-7</u>
- 37. Suliman Khan, Liangyu Peng, Rabeea Siddique, Ghulam Nabi, Nawsherwan, Mengzhou Xue, Jianbo Liu, Guang Han. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology as part of the Cambridge Coronavirus Collection. March 2020. DOI: 10.1017/ice.2020.84
- 38. H. Liu, F. Liu and J. Li et al., Clinical and CT imaging features of the COVID-19 pneumonia: Focus on pregnant women and children, Journal of Infection, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.007</u>
- 39. Xiaoqing Wu, Ruihong Sun, Jianpu Chen, Yuanliang Xie, Shutong Zhang, Xiang Wang. Radiological findings and clinical characteristics of pregnant women with COVID-19 pneumonia In J Gynecol Obstet. In press doi: 10.1002/ijgo.13165
- 40. Khan S, Jun L, Nawsherwan Siddique R, Li Y, Han G, Xue M, Nabi G, Liu J, Association of COVID-19 infection with pregnancy outcomes in healthcare workers and general women, Clinical Microbiology and Infection, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2020.03.034</u>
- 41. Sutton, D, Fuchs, K, D'Alton M, Goffman D. Universal Screening for SARS-CoV-2 in Women Admitted for Delivery. New Engl J Med April 13, 2020. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMc2009316
- 42. The Nederlandse Vereniging voor Obstetrie en Gynaecologie (Dutch Association for Obstetrics and Gynecology) (NVOG). Registratie COVID-19 positieve zwangeren in NethOSS (Update registration COVID-19 positive pregnant women in NethOSS).

Available <u>https://www.nvog.nl/actueel/registratie-van-covid-19-positieve-zwangeren-in-</u> <u>nethoss/</u> Accessed 14 April.

- Parisa Karami, Maliheh Naghavib, Abdolamir Feyzib, Mehdi Aghamohammadic, Mohammad Sadegh Novinc, Ahmadreza Mobaiend, Mohamad Qorbanisania, Aida Karamia, Amir Hossein Norooznezhad. Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease, in press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101665</u>
- 44. Hui yang, Guoqiang Sun, Fei Tang, Min Peng, Ying Gao, Jing Peng, Hui Xie, Yun Zhao, Zhichun Jin, Clinical Features and Outcomes of Pregnant Women Suspected of Coronavirus Disease 2019, Journal of Infection (2020), doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.04.003</u>
- 45. Lowe B, Bopp B. COVID-19 vaginal delivery a case report. ANZOG 15 April 2020. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajo.13173
- 46. 16 April update of NethOSS available here. <u>https://www.nvog.nl/actueel/registratie-van-covid-19-</u> positieve-zwangeren-in-nethoss/ Accessed 20 April 2020
- 47. COVID-19: epidemiological update of April 16, 2020 Santé Publique France. Available here.
 <u>https://ripetomato2uk.files.wordpress.com/2020/03/covid19_pe_20200418.pdf Accesed 20 April</u>
 2020
- 48. Evangelia Vlachodimitropoulou Koumoutsea, Alexandre J. Vivanti, Nadine Shehata, Alexandra Benachi, Agnes Le Gouez, Celine Desconclois, Wendy Whittle, John Snelgrove, Kinga Ann Malinowski. COVID19 and acute coagulopathy in pregnancy. J Thrombosis Haemostasis. 17 April 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jth.14856</u>
- 49. Tekbali A, Grünebaum A, Saraya A, McCullough L, Bornstein E, Chervenak FA. Pregnant versus nonpregnant SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19 Hospital Admissions: The first 4 weeks in New York, American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology (2020), doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2020.04.012</u>.
- 50. Schnettler WT, Al Ahwel Y, Suhag A, Severe ARDS in COVID-19-infected pregnancy: obstetric and intensive care considerations American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology MFM (2020), doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100120.
- Maria Claudia Alzamora, Tania Paredes, David Caceres, Camille M. Webb, Luis M. Valdez, Mauricio La Rosa. Severe COVID-19 during Pregnancy and Possible Vertical Transmission. Am J Perinatal. Online April 18. DOI <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0040-1710050</u>.

INTERCOVID: a prospective cohort study in pregnancy and the neonatal period (INTERGROWTH 21st Project, University of Oxford)

INTERCOVID Study aim

The aim is to provide women, families, health care providers and policy makers with high-quality evidence regarding the effects of COVID-19 on maternal, fetal and neonatal outcomes by carrying out a large, **multi-national, prospective cohort study over 6 months, starting on 20 April 2020**. Monthly data monitoring and interim analyses will provide evidence of the initial trends and guide the study's strategy. The information is needed quickly and at scale to optimise pregnancy care, reduce maternal anxiety, inform decision-making about the allocation of resources, and guide the process toward social adaptation. Although it is generally believed that pregnant women with COVID-19 are at similar risk to the general population (*NEJM* April 17, 2020), there are limited data available, principally from small case series without controls, which cannot answer fundamental questions relating to the effects of the disease on maternal and neonatal outcomes.

Study design and outcomes

This is a large, multi-national, prospective cohort study. 'Exposed' cases are defined as pregnant women with: a) laboratory confirmed COVID-19; b) radiological pulmonary findings suggestive of COVID-19; c) symptoms compatible with COVID-19 according to a predefined list, or d) no symptoms, whilst in close interaction with a person(s) with confirmed COVID-19 infection (a proxy for asymptomatic cases, one of the main problems in controlling the pandemic). 'Exposed' cases (and two 'non-exposed' pregnant women per case as representative of the general population) will be recruited at any stage of pregnancy. Both 'exposed' and 'non-exposed' women and their newborns will be followed until hospital discharge to quantify the risks associated with SARS-CoV-2 exposure. We will also conduct a nested case/non-case analysis to identify socio-economic and clinical features that are either risk factors or effect modifiers of the outcomes (see <u>JAMA Pediatrics 2015</u> for this analytical strategy).

We will use, as primary outcomes, maternal pregnancy-related morbidities (e.g. pre-eclampsia and preterm birth) as separate items and construct, as we have done previously, an unweighted 'maternal morbidity index'. We will also use two unweighted composite neonatal outcomes: i) the 'severe neonatal morbidity index', including at least one severe neonatal complication such as intraventricular haemorrhage or necrotising enterocolitis, and ii) the 'neonatal morbidity and mortality index', including at least neonatal death up until hospital discharge, stay in Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) for ≥7 days, or severe neonatal complication. Each individual component of the indices will be secondary outcomes.

Sample size considerations

Power calculations are difficult in a large field study, when the case definition is uncertain (facilitating misclassifications) and risk factors and outcomes with unknown degrees of association and prevalence are being explored. So, having balanced power calculations and logistical demands, variations in the peak of the pandemic across sites, and the need to obtain results quickly whilst maintaining data quality, we have opted for a 2:1 'non-exposed' to 'exposed' ratio to improve power. We have estimated that COVID-19 in pregnancy could increase the risk of a common outcome, such as preterm birth, from 10% to 15%. With this rate of effect, it is possible to have 80% power with 500 'exposed' women and 1000 'non-exposed' women. We do not envisage problems obtaining the estimated case load needed in up to 6 months' data collection. Thus, taking all these issues into account, including the considerable uncertainties, we have taken a pragmatic approach and decided to initiate the INTERCOVID Study next week, as planned. Our Data Monitoring Group (see below) will evaluate these estimations in interim analyses.

INTERGROWTH-21st Network

This large study benefits from the University of Oxford having hosted the well-established network of standardised researchers across the world, who have participated over the last 12 years in the various studies of the <u>INTERGROWTH-21st Project</u>. The network has produced 125 scientific papers with over 3000 citations since 2015, which have influenced national and international guidelines in the field of maternal, newborn and infant health, demonstrating its translational value. As a result, we have in place trained research staff and standardised data collection forms focused on maternal and neonatal outcomes, as well as environmental exposures at cluster level. All the documentation links to an online data collection system and QC measures that provide information almost in real-time. For the present study, we have simply added a form relating to COVID-19, which explains why **we can start the study immediately**.

Participating medical institutions

In the last week, a first round of invitations was sent to our global network, which has resulted in 42 medical institutions agreeing to participate. Most have collected information in the last few weeks about 'exposed' women that can be added to the database with the corresponding temporal 'non-exposed' women. The study duration (3-6 months) at each site will depend on the progress of the pandemic in areas that have not yet seen many cases (e.g. South America and Africa).

On 20 April 2020, a second wave of invitations was sent to 200 neonatologists and obstetricians (mostly from LMICs) that have taken the INTERGROWTH-21st e-learning course on newborn postnatal follow-up. They have been standardised for data collection and are ideally trained to participate in a study like this. In addition, based on what happens in the first 2 weeks of the study, we are ready to activate a list of 1500 health care professionals who took the INTERGROWTH-21st e-learning courses in the last 3 years and have been trained following the same procedures and standardized practices.

Finally, we have made contact with the West African Health Organization (WAHO), which has access to a network of medical institutions in 12 countries in sub-Saharan Africa, in addition to our existing collaborators in Ghana, Kenya and Nigeria, so as to target as broad an area of the continent as possible.

A major feature of this phased strategy is that we are involving countries that are at different stages of the disease trajectory, including those with very few reported cases. Thus, by the end of the study, we expect to have the most updated understanding at global level of the maternal, fetal and neonatal morbidity and mortality associated with COVID-19. We will also have assembled an invaluable global platform for future clinical trials aimed at testing therapies or vaccines in pregnant women.

Ethical considerations

Ethical approval has already been obtained from the Oxford Tropical Research Ethics Committee (OxTREC), ref no 526-20. Informed consent will be obtained according to local practices. The approved consent form includes the statement that anonymised clinical information, test results and images can be **'shared with academic collaborators around the world including the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and commercial companies'**. Those medical institutions that require local approval as well are doing so, but they do not envisage much delay in starting the study. It is important to stress that the study will not interfere with the clinical management of affected women that will be carried out based on <u>current guidelines</u>.

Publication policy

We will adopt the publication policy that has successfully served the INTERGROWTH-21st Project for the last 12 years: namely that the Principal Investigators and leading contributors at each site will be co-authors on all publications resulting from the INTERCOVID Study.

Data management

We will use the same data management system that was specifically developed for the INTERGROWTH-21st Project studies (MedSciNet, London, UK). It is coordinated centrally by the same team that has accumulated extensive experience with our previous studies. All data will be entered locally into the on-line system with its built-in extensive QC facility. Queries can be dispatched immediately to the study sites, which provides continuously clean data sets for intermediate analysis.

Data sharing

The intention is to pursue an open data policy in keeping with the principles set out in the <u>Wellcome Trust</u> <u>statement</u> on sharing data during the COVID-19 pandemic (31 January 2020), to which the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation is a signatory. Our commitment is to ensure that all stakeholders have rapid access to emerging findings that could aid the global response.

Scientific Advisory Board and Data Monitoring Group

We have established a Scientific Advisory Board, with global representation, consisting of experts in maternal, newborn health, epidemiology, virology and public health. An independent Data Monitoring Group, (School of Public Health at Berkeley), will evaluate the study's progress every 2 weeks to guide the recruitment process and conduct interim analyses, without statistical testing, informing an external evaluation committee.